# Analytic criteria in the qualitative spectral analysis of the Schrödinger operator \*

Vladimir Maz'ya

Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, USA University of Liverpool, Liverpool, UK Linköping University, Sweden

Dedicated to Barry Simon on the occasion of his 60th birthday

Abstract. A number of topics in the qualitative spectral analysis of the Schrödinger operator  $-\Delta+V$  are surveyed. In particular, some old and new results concerning the positivity and semiboundedness of this operator as well as the structure of different parts of its spectrum are considered. The attention is focused on conditions both necessary and sufficient, as well as on their sharp corollaries.

#### Contents

1	Introduction	2
<b>2</b>	Wiener capacity	2
3	Equality of the minimal and maximal Dirichlet Schrödinger forms	4
4	Closability of quadratic forms	5
5	Positivity of the Schrödinger operator with negative potential	6
6	Trace inequality for $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$	9
7	Positive solutions of $(\Delta + \mathbb{V})w = 0$	11
8	Semiboundedness of the operator $-\Delta - \mathbb{V}$	12
9	Negative spectrum of $-h\Delta - \mathbb{V}$	12
10	Rellich-Kato theorem	14
11	Sobolev regularity for solutions of $(-\Delta + V)u = f$	15
12	Relative form boundedness and form compactness	16
13	Infinitesimal form boundedness	19
14	Kato's condition $K_n$	21
15	Trudinger's subordination for the Schrödinger operator	22
16	Discreteness of the spectrum of $-\Delta + \mathbb{V}$ with nonnegative potential	23
17	Strict positivity of the spectrum of $-\Delta + \mathbb{V}$	<b>25</b>
18	Two-sided estimates for the bottom of spectrum and essential spectrum	26
19	Structure of the essential spectrum of $H_{\mathbb{V}}$	27
20	Two measure boundedness and compactness criteria	28

<sup>\*</sup>Supported in part by NSF Grant DMS-0500029

#### 1 Introduction

The purpose of the present article is to survey various analytic results concerning the Schrödinger operator  $-\Delta + V(x)$  obtained during the last half-century, including several quite recently. In particular, the positivity and semiboundedness of this operator as well as the structure of different parts of its spectrum are among the topics touched upon.

In the choice of material I aim mostly at results of final character, i.e. at simultaneously necessary and sufficient conditions, and their consequences, the best possible in a sense. Another motivation for the inclusion of any particular problem in this survey is my own involvement in its solution.

Naturally, the selection of topics is far from exhaustive. For instance, conditions for the essential self-adjointness of the Schrödinger operator and for the absence of eigenvalues at positive energies, as well as properties of eigenfunctions and bounds on the number of eigenvalues, are not considered here. These and many other themes of qualitative spectral analysis have been discussed in the comprehensive surveys [Sim4], [BMS], [Dav1], and, of course, in the classical Reed and Simon's treatise [RS1]-[RS4]. However, the information collected in what follows has been quoted rarely if ever in the quantum mechanics literature.

Due to space limitation, I write only about the linear Schrödinger operator with electric potential, although some of the results below can be modified and applied to nonlinear, magnetic, relativistic Schrödinger operators and even general elliptic operators with variable coefficients. For the same reason, proofs are supplied just in a few cases, mostly when a source does not seem readily available.

#### 2 Wiener capacity

The capacity of a set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  will be met frequently in the present article. This notion appeared first in electrostatics and was introduced to mathematics by N. Wiener in the 1920s. Since then several generalizations and modifications of Wiener's capacity appeared: Riesz, Bessel, polyharmonic capacities, *p*-capacity and others. They are of use in potential theory, probability, function theory and partial differential equations. The capacities provide adequate terms to describe sets of discontinuities of Sobolev functions, removable singularities of solutions to partial differential equations, sets of uniqueness for analytic functions, regular boundary points in the Wiener sense, divergence sets for trigonometric series, etc. (see, for example, [AH], [Car], [Lan], [MH]). Some applications of Wiener's and other capacities to the theory of the Schrödinger operator are presented in this survey.

Let  $\Omega$  be an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and let F be a compact subset of  $\Omega$ . The Wiener (harmonic) capacity of F with respect to  $\Omega$  is defined as the number

$$\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F = \inf \Big\{ \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 dx : \ u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega), \ u \ge 1 \text{ on } F \Big\}.$$
(1)

We shall use the simplified notation  $\operatorname{cap} F$  if  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$ . The capacity  $\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F$  can be defined equivalently as the least upper bound of  $\nu(F)$  over the set of all measures  $\nu$  supported by F and satisfying the condition

$$\int_{\Omega} G(x,y) \, d\nu(y) \le 1,$$

where G is the Green function of the domain  $\Omega$ . If  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^3$  then it is just the electrostatic capacity of F.

It follows from the definition (1) that the capacity is a nondecreasing function of F and a nonincreasing one of  $\Omega$ . We have Choquet's inequality

$$\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega}(F_1 \cap F_2) + \operatorname{cap}_{\Omega}(F_1 \cup F_2) \le \operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F_1 + \operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F_2$$

for arbitrary compact sets  $F_1$  and  $F_2$  in  $\Omega$  [Cho]. It is easy to check that the Wiener capacity is continuous from the right. This means that for each  $\varepsilon > 0$  there exists a neighborhood  $G, F \subset G \subset \overline{G} \subset \Omega$  such that for each compact set  $F_1$  with  $F \subset F_1 \subset G$ the inequality

$$\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F_1 \le \operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F + \varepsilon$$

holds.

Let E be an arbitrary subset of  $\Omega$ . The inner and the outer capacities are defined as numbers

$$\underline{\operatorname{cap}}_{\Omega} E = \sup_{F \subset E} \operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F, \qquad F \text{ compact in } \Omega,$$
$$\overline{\operatorname{cap}}_{\Omega} E = \inf_{G \supset E} \operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} G, \qquad G \text{ open in } \Omega.$$

It follows from the general Choquet theory that for each Borel set both capacities coincide [Cho]. Their common value is called the Wiener (harmonic) capacity and will be denoted by  $\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} E$ .

By  $v_n$  we denote the volume of the unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $\operatorname{mes}_n F$  stand for the *n*-dimensional Lebesgue measure of F. By the classical isoperimetric inequality, the following isocapacitary inequalities hold (see [Maz7], Sect. 2.2.3)

$$\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F \ge n v_n^{2/n} (n-2) \left| (\operatorname{mes}_n \Omega)^{(2-n)/n} - (\operatorname{mes}_n F)^{(2-n)/n} \right|^{-1} \quad \text{if } n > 2$$
 (2)

and

$$\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F \ge 4\pi \left( \log \frac{\operatorname{mes}_2 \Omega}{\operatorname{mes}_2 F} \right)^{-1} \quad \text{if } n = 2.$$
(3)

In particular, if n > 2 then

$$\operatorname{cap} F \ge n v_n^{2/n} (n-2) (\operatorname{mes}_n F)^{(n-2)/n}.$$
 (4)

If  $\Omega$  and F are concentric balls, then the three preceding estimates come as identities.

Using Wiener's capacity, one can obtain two-sided estimates for the best constant in the Friedrichs inequality

$$\|u\|_{L_2(B_1)} \le C \, \|\nabla u\|_{L_2(B_1)},\tag{5}$$

where  $B_1$  is a unit open ball and u is an arbitrary function in  $C^{\infty}(\overline{B_1})$  vanishing on a compact subset F of  $\overline{B_1}$ .

**Proposition 2.1** [Maz2] The best constant C in (5) satisfies

$$C \le c(n) \left( \operatorname{cap} F \right)^{-1/2},\tag{6}$$

where c(n) depends only on n.

It is shown in [MShu2] that (6) holds with  $c(n) = 4v_n n^{-1}(n^2 - 2)$ . Proposition 2.1 has the following partial converse.

#### Proposition 2.2 Let

$$\operatorname{cap} F \le \gamma \operatorname{cap} B_1,\tag{7}$$

where  $\gamma \in (0,1)$ . Then any constant C in (5) satisfies

$$C \ge c(n,\gamma) (\operatorname{cap} F)^{-1/2}.$$
(8)

This assertion was proved in [Maz2] (see also [Maz7], Ch. 10) with a sufficiently small  $\gamma = \gamma(n)$ . The present stronger version is essentially contained in [MShu1]. Both propositions were used in [KMS] to derive a discreteness of spectrum criterion for the magnetic Schrödinger operator.

# 3 Equality of the minimal and maximal Dirichlet Schrödinger forms

Let  $\mathbb{V}$  be a nonnegative Radon measure in  $\Omega$ . Consider the quadratic form

$$Q[u,u] = \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 dx + \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathbb{V}(dx). \tag{9}$$

The closure of Q defined on the set

$$\{u \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) : \operatorname{supp} u \subset \Omega, \ Q[u, u] < \infty\},\$$

which may contain functions with non-compact support, will be denoted by  $Q_{\text{max}}$ . Another quadratic form  $Q_{\text{min}}$  is introduced as the closure of Q defined on  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .

The question as to when the equality  $Q_{\text{max}} = Q_{\text{min}}$  holds has been raised by T. Kato [Ka3]. B. Simon studied a similar question concerning the magnetic Schrödinger operator in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  [Sim2]. The following necessary and sufficient condition for this equality was obtained in [CMaz].

**Theorem 3.1** (i) If either  $n \leq 2$  or n > 2 and  $\operatorname{cap}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega) = \infty$ , then  $Q_{\max} = Q_{\min}$ . (ii) Suppose that n > 2 and  $\operatorname{cap}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega) < \infty$ . Then  $Q_{\max} = Q_{\min}$  if and only if

$$\mathbb{V}(\Omega \setminus F) = \infty \quad \text{for every closed set } F \subset \Omega \text{ with } \operatorname{cap} F < \infty. \tag{10}$$

**Example.** Consider the domain  $\Omega$  complementing the infinite funnel

$$\{x = (x', x_n) : x_n \ge 0, |x'| \le f(x_n)\},\$$

where f is a continuously decreasing function on  $[0, \infty)$  subject to  $f(t) \leq cf(2t)$ . One can show that cap  $(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega) < \infty$  if and only if the function  $f(t)^{n-2}$  for n > 3 and the function  $(\log(t/f(t)))^{-1}$  for n = 3 are integrable on  $(1, \infty)$ .

**Remark 3.1** Note that the equality  $Q_{\max} = Q_{\min}$  is equivalent to (10) in the particular case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$ . Assume that  $\mathbb{V}(dx) = V(x) dx$ , where V is a positive function in  $L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  locally bounded away from zero. According to [CMaz], condition (10) is necessary for the essential self-adjointness of the operator  $V^{-1}\Delta$  on  $L^2(V dx)$  with domain  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

#### 4 Closability of quadratic forms

Let  $\Omega$  be an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and let  $\mathbb{V}$  be a nonnegative Radon measure in  $\Omega$ . By  $\mathring{L}^1_2(\Omega)$  we denote the completion of  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  in the norm  $\|\nabla u\|_{L_2(\Omega)}$ .

One says that the quadratic form

$$||u||_{L_2(\Omega, \mathbb{V}(dx))}^2 := \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathbb{V}(dx)$$
(11)

defined on  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  is closable in  $\mathring{L}_2^1(\Omega)$  if any Cauchy sequence in the space  $L_2(\Omega, \mathbb{V}(dx))$ converging to zero in  $\mathring{L}_2^1(\Omega)$  has zero limit in  $L_2(\Omega, \mathbb{V}(dx))$ . We call the measure  $\mathbb{V}$ absolutely continuous with respect to the harmonic capacity if the equality cap E = 0, where E is a Borel subset of  $\Omega$ , implies  $\mathbb{V}(E) = 0$ .  $\Box$ 

Let, for example,  $\mathbb{V}$  be the  $\varphi$ -Hausdorff measure in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , i.e.

$$\mathbb{V}(E) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to +0} \inf_{\{\mathcal{B}^{(j)}\}} \sum_{i} \varphi(r_i),$$

where  $\varphi$  is a nondecreasing positive continuous function on  $(0, \infty)$  and  $\{\mathcal{B}^{(j)}\}\$  is any covering of the set E by open balls  $\mathcal{B}^{(i)}$  with radii  $r_i < \varepsilon$ . It is well known that this measure is absolutely continuous with respect to the Wiener capacity if

$$\int_0^\infty \varphi(t) \, t^{1-n} \, dt < \infty,$$

and that this condition is sharp in a sense (see [Car]).

Needless to say, any measure  $\mathbb V$  absolutely continuous with respect to the *n*-dimensional Lebesgue measure is absolutely continuous with respect to the capacity.  $\Box$ 

The following result has been obtained in [Maz3].

**Theorem 4.1** The quadratic form (11) is closable in  $\mathring{L}_{2}^{1}(\Omega)$  if and only if  $\mathbb{V}$  is absolutely continuous with respect to the Wiener capacity.

The closability of (11) in  $\mathring{L}_2^1(\Omega)$  is necessary for the Schrödinger operator  $-\Delta - \mathbb{V}$ , formally associated with the form

$$S[u,u] := \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx - \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathbb{V}(dx), \quad u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega), \tag{12}$$

to be well-defined.

Dealing with the Schrödinger operator formally given by the expression  $-\Delta + \mathbb{V}$ and acting in  $L_2(\Omega)$  we need the following notion of a form closable in  $L_2(\Omega)$ .

By definition, the quadratic form Q defined on  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  by (9) is closable in  $L_2(\Omega)$  if any Cauchy sequence in the norm  $Q[u, u]^{1/2}$  which tends to zero in  $L_2(\Omega)$  has zero limit in the norm  $Q[u, u]^{1/2}$ . This notion is equivalent to the lower semicontinuity of Q in  $L_2(\Omega)$  [Sim1].

**Theorem 4.2** (see[Maz7], Sect. 12.4, 12.5) The form Q defined on  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  is closable in  $L_2(\Omega)$  if and only if  $\mathbb{V}$  is absolutely continuous with respect to the Wiener capacity.

We assume in the sequel that the measure  $\mathbb V$  is absolutely continuous with respect to the Wiener capacity.

# 5 Positivity of the Schrödinger operator with negative potential

The next result was obtained in [Maz1], [Maz3] (see also [Maz7], Th. 2.5.2).

**Theorem 5.1** Let  $\Omega$  be an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $n \ge 1$ , and let  $\mathbb{V}$  be a nonnegative Radon measure in  $\Omega$ . The inequality

$$\int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathbb{V}(dx) \le \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \, u|^2 \, dx \tag{13}$$

holds for every  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  provided

$$\frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega}F} \le \frac{1}{4} \tag{14}$$

for all compact sets  $F \subset \Omega$ .

A necessary condition for (13) is

$$\frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\mathrm{cap}_{\Omega}F} \le 1,\tag{15}$$

where F is an arbitrary compact subset of  $\Omega$ .

**Remark 5.1** In inequalities (14), (15) and elsewhere in similar cases, we tacitly assume that vanishing of denominator implies vanishing of numerator, and we may choose any appropriate value of the ratio.

**Remark 5.2** The necessity of (15) is trivial. The proof of sufficiency of (14) in [Maz3], [Maz7] shows that (14) implies (13) even without the requirement  $\mathbb{V} \geq 0$ , i.e. for an arbitrary locally finite real valued charge in  $\Omega$ .

**Remark 5.3** The formulation and the proof of Theorem 5.1 do not change if we assume that  $\Omega$  is an open subset of an arbitrary Riemannian manifold.

Theorem 5.1 immediately gives the following criterion.

Corollary 5.2 The trace inequality

$$\int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathbb{V}(dx) \le C \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx \tag{16}$$

holds for every  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  if and only if

$$\sup_{F \subset \Omega} \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F} < \infty.$$

The bounds 1/4 and 1 in (14) and (15) are sharp. The gap between these sufficient and necessary conditions is the same as in Hille's non-oscillation criteria for the operator

$$-u'' - \mathbb{V}u, \qquad \mathbb{V} \ge 0,$$

on the positive semiaxis  $\mathbb{R}^1_+$ :

$$x \mathbb{V}((x,\infty)) \le 1/4$$
 and  $x \mathbb{V}((x,\infty)) \le 1$  (17)

for all  $x \ge 0$  [Hil]. By the way, conditions (17) are particular cases of (14) and (15) with n = 1 and  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^1_+$ .  $\Box$ 

Combining Theorem 5.1 with isocapacitary inequalities (2)-(4), we arrive at sufficient conditions for (13) whose formulations involve no capacity. For example, in the two-dimensional case, (13) is guaranteed by the inequality

$$\mathbb{V}(F) \le \frac{4\pi}{\log \frac{\operatorname{mes}_2 \Omega}{\operatorname{mes}_2 F}}$$

The sharpness of this condition can be easily checked by analyzing the well known Hardy-type inequality

$$\int_{\Omega} \frac{|u(x)|^2}{|x|^2 (\log |x|)^2} \, dx \le 4 \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u(x)|^2 \, dx,$$

where  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and  $\Omega$  is the unit disc.  $\Box$ 

The sufficiency of (14) for the inequality (13) can be directly obtained from the following more precise result.

**Theorem 5.3** [Maz8] Let  $n \ge 1$  and let  $\nu$  be a non-decreasing function on  $(0, \infty)$  such that

$$\mathbb{V}(F) \le \nu(\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F)$$

for all compact subsets F of  $\Omega$ . If

$$\int_0^\infty |v(\tau)|^2 \, |d\nu(\tau^{-1})| \le \int_0^\infty |v'(\tau)|^2 d\tau$$

for all absolutely continuous v with  $v' \in L_2(0,\infty)$  and v(0) = 0, then (13) holds.

One example of the application of this assertion is the following improvement of the Hardy inequality which cannot be deduced from (14):

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_1} u^2 \Big( 1 + \frac{1}{(n-2)^2 (\log |x|)^2} \Big) \frac{dx}{|x|^2} \le \frac{4}{(n-2)^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \setminus B_1} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx,$$

where  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \overline{B}_1)$  and n > 2.

Here is a dual assertion to Theorem 5.3 which is stated in terms of the Green function G of  $\Omega$  and does not depend on the notion of capacity.

**Theorem 5.4** Let  $\mathbb{V}_F$  be the restriction of the measure  $\mathbb{V}$  to a compact set  $F \subset \Omega$ . Inequality (13) holds for every  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  provided

$$\int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} G(x, y) \, \mathbb{V}_F(dx) \, \mathbb{V}_F(dy) \le \frac{1}{4} \mathbb{V}(F) \tag{18}$$

for all F. Conversely, inequality (13) implies

$$\int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} G(x, y) \, \mathbb{V}_F(dx) \, \mathbb{V}_F(dy) \le \, \mathbb{V}(F).$$
(19)

Sketch of the proof. Let u be a nonnegative function in  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  such that  $u \ge 1$  on F. Then

$$\mathbb{V}(F) \leq \int_{\Omega} u(x) \, \mathbb{V}_F(dx) \leq \left( \int_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} G(x,y) \, \mathbb{V}_F(dx) \, \mathbb{V}_F(dy) \right)^{1/2} \|\nabla u\|_{L_2(\Omega)}$$

which in combination with (18) gives (14). The reference to Theorem 5.3 gives the sufficiency of (18).

Let (13) hold. Then

$$\left|\int_{\Omega} u \, \mathbb{V}_F(dx)\right|^2 \leq \mathbb{V}(F) \, \|\nabla u\|_{L_2(\Omega)}^2$$

Omitting a standard approximation argument, we put

$$u(x) = \int_{\Omega} G(x, y) \, \mathbb{V}_F(dy)$$

and the necessity of (19) results.

The next assertion follows directly from Theorem 7.1.

**Corollary 5.5** The trace inequality (16) holds if and only if there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\int_{F} \int_{F} G(x, y) \, \mathbb{V}_{F}(dx) \, \mathbb{V}_{F}(dy) \le C \, \mathbb{V}(F) \tag{20}$$

for all compact sets F in  $\Omega$ .

**Remark 5.4** Note that Theorem 7.1 and Corollary 5.5 include the case n = 2 when the existence of the Green function is equivalent to  $\operatorname{cap}(\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \Omega) > 0$  (see [Lan]).

Remark 5.5 Obviously, the pointwise estimate

$$\int_{\Omega} G(x,y) \,\mathbb{V}(dx) \le 1/4 \tag{21}$$

implies (18) and hence it is sufficient for (13) to hold.  $\Box$ 

It is well-known that the operator  $\tilde{S}$  obtained by the closure of the quadratic form S[u, u] defined by (12) generates a contractive semigroup on  $L_p(\Omega)$ ,  $p \in (1, \infty)$  if and only if

$$\int_{\Omega} |u|^{p-2} \, u \, \tilde{S} \, u \, dx \ge 0 \tag{22}$$

for all  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  ([LPh], [MS], [RS2], Th. X.48). The following analytic conditions related to (22) can be deduced from Theorem 5.1.

**Corollary 5.6** Let  $p \in (1,\infty)$  and p' = p/(p-1). The operator  $\tilde{S}$  generates a contractive semigroup on  $L_p(\Omega)$  if

$$\sup_{F\subset\Omega}\frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\mathrm{cap}_\Omega F}\leq \frac{1}{pp'}$$

and only if

$$\sup_{F \subset \Omega} \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F} \le \frac{4}{pp'}.$$

#### 6 Trace inequality for $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$

Inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u|^2 \, \mathbb{V}(dx) \le C \, \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla \, u|^2 \, dx \tag{23}$$

deserves to be discussed in more detail. First, (23) for n=2 implies  $\mathbb{V}=0$ . Let n>2. Needless to say, by Theorem 5.1 the condition

$$\sup_{F} \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\operatorname{cap} F} < \infty, \tag{24}$$

where the supremum is taken over all compact sets F in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , is necessary and sufficient for (23). Restricting ourselves to arbitrary balls B in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we have by (24) the obvious necessary condition

$$\sup_{B} \frac{\mathbb{V}(B)}{(\mathrm{mes}_{n}B)^{1-2/n}} < \infty.$$
(25)

On the other hand, using the isocapacitary inequality (4), we obtain the sufficient condition

$$\sup_{F} \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{(\mathrm{mes}_n F)^{1-2/n}} < \infty, \tag{26}$$

where the supremum is taken over all compact sets F in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Moreover, the best value of C in (23) satisfies

$$C \le \frac{4v_n^{-2/n}}{n(n-2)} \sup_F \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{(\mathrm{mes}_n F)^{1-2/n}}$$

and the constant factor in front of the supremum is sharp [Maz3].

Although (25) and (26) look similar, they are not equivalent in general. In other words, one cannot replace arbitrary sets F in (24) by balls. Paradoxically, the situation with the criterion (20) in the case  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$  is different. In fact, Kerman and Sawyer [KeS] showed that the trace inequality (23) holds if and only if for all balls B in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ 

$$\int_{B} \int_{B} \frac{\mathbb{V}(dx) \,\mathbb{V}(dy)}{|x-y|^{n-2}} \le C \,\mathbb{V}(B). \tag{27}$$

Maz'ya and Verbitsky [MV1] gave another necessary and sufficient condition for (23):

$$\sup_{x} \frac{I_1(I_1 \mathbb{V})^2(x)}{I_1 \mathbb{V}(x)} < \infty, \tag{28}$$

where  $I_s$  is the Riesz potential of order s, i.e.

$$I_s \mathbb{V}(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\mathbb{V}(dy)}{|x - y|^{n - s}}.$$

The following complete characterization of (23) is due to Verbitsky [Ver]. For every dyadic cube  $P_0$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ 

$$\sup_{P_0} \frac{1}{V(P_0)} \sum \frac{\mathbb{V}(P)^2}{(\mathrm{mes}_n P)^{1-2/n}} < \infty,$$
(29)

where the sum is taken over all dyadic cubes P contained in  $P_0$  and C does not depend on  $P_0$ . Let us assume that  $\mathbb{V}$  is absolutely continuous with respect to  $mes_n$ , i.e.

$$\mathbb{V}(F) = \int_F V(x) \, dx.$$

Fefferman and Phong [F] proved that (23) follows from

$$\sup_{B} \frac{\int_{B} V^{t} dx}{(\operatorname{mes}_{n} B)^{1-2t/n}} < \infty \qquad \text{with some } t \in (1, n/2).$$
(30)

This can be readily deduced from Sawyer's inequality [Saw]

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (\mathcal{M}_t f)^2 \,\nu(dx) \le C \sup_B \frac{\nu(B)}{(\mathrm{mes}_n B)^{1-2t/n}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} f^2 \,dx,\tag{31}$$

where  $\nu$  is a measure,  $f \ge 0$  and  $\mathcal{M}_t$  is the fractional maximal operator defined by

$$\mathcal{M}_t f(x) = \sup_B \frac{\int_B f(y) \, dy}{(\mathrm{mes}_n B)^{1-t/n}}.$$

In fact, for any  $\delta > 0$ 

$$I_1 f(x) = (n-1) \int_0^\infty r^{-n} \int_{B_r(x)} f(y) \, dy \, dr \le (n-1) \left( \delta \, \mathcal{M} f(x) + (t-1)^{-1} \delta^{1-t} \mathcal{M}_t f(x) \right),$$

where  $\mathcal{M}$  is the Hardy-Littlewood maximal operator. Minimizing the right-hand side in  $\delta$ , we arrive at the inequality

$$I_1 f(x) \le \frac{(n-1)t}{t-1} \left( \mathcal{M}_t f(x) \right)^{1/t} \left( \mathcal{M} f(x) \right)^{1-1/t}$$
(32)

([Hed], see also [AH], Sect. 3.1). Now, (32) implies

$$\|I_1 f\|_{L_2(Vdx)} \le C \, \|\mathcal{M}_t f\|_{L_2(V^t dx)}^{1/t} \|\mathcal{M} f\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-1/t}.$$

Therefore, by (31) and by the boundedness of  $\mathcal{M}$  in  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we arrive at the inequality

$$\|I_1 f\|_{L_2(Vdx)} \le C \sup_B \left(\frac{\int_B V^t dx}{(\mathrm{mes}_n B)^{1-2t/n}}\right)^{1/2t} \|f\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}$$

which is equivalent to the Fefferman-Phong result. Their result was improved by Chang, Wilson and Wolff [ChWW] who showed that if  $\varphi$  is an increasing function  $[0,\infty) \rightarrow [1,\infty)$  subject to

$$\int_{1}^{\infty} (\tau \,\varphi(\tau))^{-1} d\tau < \infty, \tag{33}$$

then the condition

$$\sup_{B} \frac{\int_{B} V(x) \varphi \left( V(x) (\operatorname{diam} B)^{2} \right) dx}{(\operatorname{mes}_{n} B)^{1-2/n}} < \infty$$
(34)

is sufficient for (23) to hold. The assumption (33) is sharp.

By Remark 5.5, the condition

$$\sup_{x} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\mathbb{V}(dy)}{|x-y|^{n-2}} < \infty, \tag{35}$$

is sufficient for (23). It is related to Kato's condition frequently used in the spectral theory of the Schrödinger operator (see Sect. 14 below for more information about Kato's condition). Note that (35) is rather far from being necessary since it excludes (23) with  $\mathbb{V}(dx) = |x|^{-2}dx$ , i.e. the classical Hardy inequality, unlike other conditions just mentioned.

We conclude this section with the observation that the multiplicative inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^2 \,\mathbb{V}(dx) \le C \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u|^2 dx \right)^\tau \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u^2 \,dx \right)^{1-\tau}, \qquad 0 \le \tau < 1, \qquad (36)$$

is equivalent to

$$\sup_{B} \frac{\mathbb{V}B}{(\mathrm{mes}_n B)^{1-2\tau/n}} < \infty \tag{37}$$

([Maz7], Theorem 1.4.7, see Sect. 15 below for further development).

# 7 Positive solutions of $(\Delta + \mathbb{V})w = 0$

Inequality (23) is intimately related to the problem of existence of positive solutions for the Schrödinger equation

$$-\Delta w = \mathbb{V}w \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n. \tag{38}$$

S. Agmon showed that the existence of  $w \ge 0$  is equivalent to the positivity of the operator  $-\Delta - \mathbb{V}$  for relatively nice  $\mathbb{V}$  [Agm]. The following result due to Hansson, Maz'ya and Verbitsky [HMV] shows that the condition

$$I_1(I_1\mathbb{V})^2 \le C I_1\mathbb{V} \tag{39}$$

is equivalent (up to values of C) to the existence of w > 0.

**Theorem 7.1** (i) If  $-\Delta w = \mathbb{V} w$  has a nonnegative (weak) solution w, then  $I_1 \mathbb{V} < \infty$  almost everywhere and there exists a constant  $C_1 = C(n)$  such that

$$I_1((I_1 \mathbb{V})^2)(x) \le C_1 I_1 \mathbb{V}(x) \quad \text{a.e.}$$

$$\tag{40}$$

(ii) Conversely, there exists a constant  $C_2 = C_2(n)$  such that if (40) holds with  $C_2$ in place of  $C_1$ , then there exists a positive solution w to (38) which satisfies

$$|\nabla \log w(x)| \le C I_1 w(x)$$

and

$$w(x) \ge C (|x|+1)^{-c}$$

for some positive constants C and c.

In addition, if  $I_2 \mathbb{V}(x) < \infty$  a.e., then there is a solution w such that

$$e^{I_2 \mathbb{V}(x)} \le w(x) \le e^{C I_2 \mathbb{V}(x)}.$$

All the constants depend only on n.

# 8 Semiboundedness of the operator $-\Delta - \mathbb{V}$

We formulate some consequences of Theorem 5.1 concerning the topic in the title, i.e. the inequality

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \, dx - \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathbb{V}(dx) \ge -C \, \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, dx, \quad u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$

**Theorem 8.1** ([Maz3], see also [Maz7], Sect. 2.2)

(i) *If* 

$$\limsup_{\delta \to 0} \left\{ \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F} : F \subset \Omega, \ \operatorname{diam} F \le \delta \right\} < \frac{1}{4}, \tag{41}$$

then the quadratic form S[u, u] defined by (12) is semi-bounded from below and closable in  $L_2(\Omega)$ .

(ii) If the form S[u, u] is semi-bounded from below in  $L_2(\Omega)$ , then

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup \left\{ \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F} : F \subset \Omega, \ \operatorname{diam} F \le \delta \right\} \le 1.$$
(42)

Corollary 8.2 The condition

$$\limsup_{\delta \to 0} \left\{ \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F} : F \subset \Omega, \ \operatorname{diam} F \le \delta \right\} = 0$$
(43)

is necessary and sufficient for the semiboundedness of the form

$$S_h[u,u] := h \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 dx - \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathbb{V}(dx) \tag{44}$$

in  $L_2(\Omega)$  for all h > 0.

Corollary 8.3 The inequality

$$\int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathbb{V}(dx) \le C \, \int_{\Omega} (|\nabla u|^2 + |u|^2) \, dx,\tag{45}$$

where u is an arbitrary function in  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and C is a constant independent of u, holds if and only if there exists  $\delta > 0$  such that

$$\sup\left\{\frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\mathrm{cap}_{\Omega}F}:\ F\subset\Omega,\ \mathrm{diam}\ F\leq\delta\right\}<\infty.$$

#### 9 Negative spectrum of $-h\Delta - \mathbb{V}$

Investigation of the negative spectrum of the Schrödinger operator with negative potential can be based upon the following two classical general results.

**Lemma 9.1** [Fr] Let A[u, u] be a closed symmetric quadratic form in a Hilbert space H with domain D[A] and let  $\gamma(A)$  be its positive greatest lower bound. Further, let B[u, u] be a real valued quadratic form, compact in D[A]. Then the form A - B is semi-bounded below in H, closed in D[A], and its spectrum is discrete to the left of  $\gamma(A)$ .

**Lemma 9.2** [Gl] For the negative spectrum of a selfadjoint operator A to be infinite it is necessary and sufficient that there exists a linear manifold of infinite dimension on which (Au, u) < 0.

Note also that by Birman's general theorem [Bir2], the discreteness of the negative spectrum of the operator

$$\tilde{S}_h = -h\Delta - \mathbb{V}$$
 for all  $h > 0$ 

generated by the closure of the quadratic form  $S_h[u, u]$  defined by (44) is equivalent to the compactness of the quadratic form

$$\int_{\Omega} |u|^2 \, \mathbb{V}(dx) \tag{46}$$

with respect to the norm

$$\left(\int_\Omega (|\nabla u|^2+|u|^2)\,dx\right)^{1/2}$$

Analogously, the finiteness of the negative spectrum of the operator  $\tilde{S}_h$  is equivalent to the compactness of the quadratic form (46) with respect to the norm  $\|\nabla u\|_{L_2(\Omega)}$ .

Moreover, by [Bir1] (see also [Bir2] and [Schw]) the number of negative eigenvalues of  $\tilde{S}_h$  coincides with the number of eigenvalues  $\lambda_k$ ,  $\lambda_k < h^{-1}$ , of the Dirichlet problem

$$-\Delta u - \lambda \mathbb{V} u = 0, \quad u \in \mathring{L}_2^1(\Omega).$$

The next theorem contains analytic conditions both necessary and sufficient for the Schrödinger operators  $\tilde{S}_h$  to have discrete, infinite or finite negative spectra for all h > 0. These characterizations were obtained by the author from either sufficient or necessary conditions, analogous to (41), (42), for the operator  $\tilde{S}$  independent of the parameter h to have a negative spectrum with the properties just listed ([Maz1], [Maz3], see also [Maz7], Sect. 2.2.)

**Theorem 9.3** (i) A necessary and sufficient condition for the discreteness of the negative spectrum of  $\tilde{S}_h$  for all h > 0 is

$$\sup_{F \subset \Omega \setminus B_{\rho}, \operatorname{diam} F \le 1} \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F} \to 0 \quad \text{as } \rho \to \infty.$$
(47)

Here and elsewhere  $B_{\rho} = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : |x| < \rho\}.$ 

(ii) A necessary and sufficient condition for the discreteness of the negative spectrum of  $\tilde{S}_h$  for all h > 0 is

$$\sup_{F \subset \Omega \setminus B_{\rho}} \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F} \to 0 \quad \text{as } \rho \to \infty.$$
(48)

(ii) A necessary and sufficient condition for the negative spectrum of  $\tilde{S}_h$  to be infinite for all h > 0 is

$$\sup_{F \subset \Omega} \frac{\mathbb{V}(F)}{\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F} = \infty.$$
(49)

Needless to say, simpler sufficient conditions with  $\operatorname{cap}_{\Omega} F$  replaced by a function of  $\operatorname{mes}_n F$  follow directly from (47) - (49) and the isocapacitary inequalities (2) - (4).

#### 10 Rellich-Kato theorem

By the basic Rellich-Kato theorem [Re1] - [Ka1], the self-adjointness of  $-\Delta + V$  in  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is guaranteed by the inequality

$$\|V u\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le a \, \|\Delta u\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)} + b \, \|u\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)},\tag{50}$$

where a < 1 and u is an arbitrary function in  $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

Let  $n \leq 3$ . The Sobolev embedding  $W_2^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \subset L_{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and an appropriate choice of the test function in (50) show that (50) holds if and only if there is a sufficiently small constant c(n) such that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \int_{B_1(x)} |V(y)|^2 \, dy \le c(n).$$
(51)

Here and elsewhere  $B_r(x) = \{y \in \mathbb{R}^n : |y - x| < r\}$ . This class of potentials is known as Stummel's class  $S_n$  which is defined also for higher dimensions by

$$\lim_{r \downarrow 0} \left( \sup_{x} \int_{B_{r}(x)} |x - y|^{4-n} |V(y)|^{2} \, dy \right) = 0 \quad \text{for } n \ge 5,$$
$$\lim_{r \downarrow 0} \left( \sup_{x} \int_{B_{r}(x)} \log(|x - y|^{-1}) \, |V(y)|^{2} \, dy \right) = 0 \quad \text{for } n = 4,$$

[Stum]. Although the condition  $V \in S_n$  is sufficient for (50) for every n, it does not seem quite natural for  $n \ge 4$ . As a matter of fact, it excludes the simple potential  $V(x) = c|x|^{-2}$  obviously satisfying (50), if the factor c is small enough.

If  $n \ge 5$ , a characterization of (50) (modulo best constants) results directly from a necessary and sufficient condition for the inequality

$$\|V u\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le C \|\Delta u\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}, \qquad u \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n),$$

found in [Maz4]. We claim that the Rellich-Kato condition (50) holds in the case  $n \ge 4$  if and only if there is a sufficiently small c(n) subject to

$$\sup_{\text{diam}F \le 1} \frac{\int_{F} |V(y)|^2 \, dy}{\text{cap}_2 F} \le c(n) \tag{52}$$

(the values of c(n) in the sufficiency and necessity parts are different similarly to the criteria in Sect. 4). Here and elsewhere  $\operatorname{cap}_m$  is the polyharmonic capacity of a compact set F defined in the case 2m < n by

$$\operatorname{cap}_{m} F = \inf \Big\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\nabla_{m} u|^{2} \, dx : \ u \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}), \ u \ge 1 \text{ on } F \Big\},$$

where  $\nabla_m = \{\partial^m / \partial x_1^{\alpha_1} \dots \partial x_n^{\alpha_n}\}$ . For 2m = n one should add  $||u||_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2$  to the last integral.

The condition

$$\sup_{\text{liam}F \le \delta} \frac{\int_{F} |V(y)|^2 \, dy}{\text{cap}_2 F} \to 0 \quad \text{as } \delta \to 0$$
(53)

is necessary and sufficient for (50) to hold with an arbitrary a and b = b(a).

An obvious necessary condition for (50) is

$$\int_{\substack{r \le 1, x \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ r \le 1, x \in \mathbb{R}^n}} \sup r^{4-n} \int_{B_r(x)} |V(y)|^2 \, dy \le c(n) \quad \text{for } n \ge 5 \\ \sup_{\substack{r \le 1, x \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ r \le 1, x \in \mathbb{R}^n}} \left( \log \frac{2}{r} \right)^{-1} \int_{B_r(x)} |V(y)|^2 \, dy \le c(n) \quad \text{for } n = 4 \tag{54}$$

where c(n) is sufficiently small. Standard lower estimates of cap<sub>2</sub> by mes<sub>n</sub> combined with the criterion (52) give the sufficient condition

$$\begin{cases} \sup_{\text{diam}F \le 1} (\text{mes}_n F)^{(4-n)/n} \int_F |V(y)|^2 \, dy \le c(n) & \text{for } n \ge 5\\ \sup_{\text{diam}F \le 1} (\log \frac{v_n}{\text{mes}_n F})^{-1} \int_F |V(y)|^2 \, dy \le c(n) & \text{for } n = 4. \end{cases}$$
(55)

Though sharp and looking similar, (54) and (55) are not equivalent. We omit a discussion of other sufficient and both necessary and sufficient conditions for (52) to hold parallel to that in Sect. 5 (analogs of the Fefferman & Phong, Kerman & Sawyer, Maz'ya & Verbitsky, and Verbitsky conditions mentioned in Sect. 5).

Finally, we observe that the inequality

$$\|V u\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le C \|\Delta u\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\tau} \|u\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-\tau}$$

holds for a certain  $\tau \in (0,1)$  and every  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  if and only if for all  $r \in (0,1)$ 

$$\sup_{x} \int_{B_r(x)} |V(y)|^2 \, dy \le C \, r^{n-4\tau}$$

(see Theorem 1.4.7 in [Maz7]).

# 11 Sobolev regularity for solutions of $(-\Delta + V)u = f$

Let *m* be integer  $\geq 2$  and let  $W_2^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  denote the Sobolev space of functions  $u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $\nabla_m u \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Obviously, the operator

$$-\Delta + V: W_2^m(\mathbb{R}^n) \to W_2^{m-2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

is bounded if and only if V is a pointwise multiplier acting from  $W_2^m(\mathbb{R}^n)$  into  $W_2^{m-2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . (We use the notation  $V \in M(W_2^m(\mathbb{R}^n) \to W_2^{m-2}(\mathbb{R}^n))$ ). According to [MSha1], Ch. 1, necessary and sufficient conditions for  $V \in M(W_2^m(\mathbb{R}^n) \to W_2^{m-2}(\mathbb{R}^n))$  have the form

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \int_{B_1(x)} (|\nabla_{m-2}V(y)|^2 + |V(y)|^2) \, dy < \infty$$
(56)

for n < 2m and

$$\sup_{\operatorname{diam} F \leq 1} \frac{\int_{F} |\nabla_{m-2} V(y)|^2 \, dy}{\operatorname{cap}_m F} + \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} \int_{B_1(x)} |V(y)|^2 \, dy < \infty \tag{57}$$

for  $n \geq 2m$ .

Two-sided estimates for the essential norm of a multiplier:  $W_2^m(\mathbb{R}^n) \to W_2^{m-2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ found in [MSha1], Ch. 4, lead to the following regularity result. **Theorem 11.1** Let  $\varphi \in W_2^1(\mathbb{R}^n, loc)$  be a solution of

$$(-\Delta + V)\varphi = f,$$

where  $f \in W_2^{m-2}(\mathbb{R}^n, loc)$ .

If n < 2m and  $V \in W_2^{m-2}(\mathbb{R}^n, loc)$  then  $\varphi \in W_2^{2m}(\mathbb{R}^n, loc)$ .

Let  $n \ge 2m$ . Suppose there exists a sufficiently small constant c(n) such that for all sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ 

$$\sup_{\operatorname{diam} F \le \delta} \frac{\int_{F} |\nabla_{m-2} V(y)|^2 \, dy}{\operatorname{cap}_m F} + \sup_x \frac{\int_{B_{\delta}(x)} |V(y)|^2 \, dy}{\delta^{n-2m}} \le c(n).$$
(58)

Then  $\varphi \in W_2^{2m}(\mathbb{R}^n, loc)$ .

Equivalent forms of the conditions (57) and (58) of Kerman & Sawyer, Maz'ya & Verbitsky, and Verbitsky type, as well as various separately necessary or sufficient conditions involving no capacities, are available (compare with Sect. 5).

Similar higher regularity  $L_p$ -results can be obtained from estimates of the essential norms of multipliers:  $W_p^m(\mathbb{R}^n) \to W_p^{m-2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  obtained in [MSha1], Ch. 4.

# 12 Relative form boundedness and form compactness

Maz'ya and Verbitsky [MV2] gave necessary and sufficient conditions for the inequality

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u(x)|^2 V(x) \, dx \right| \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u(x)|^2 \, dx, \quad u \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n) \tag{59}$$

to hold. Here the "indefinite weight" V may change sign, or even be a complexvalued distribution on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $n \geq 3$ . (In the latter case, the left-hand side of (59) is understood as  $|\langle Vu, u \rangle|$ , where  $\langle V \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is the quadratic form associated with the corresponding multiplication operator V.) An analogous inequality for the Sobolev space  $W_2^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $n \geq 1$  was also characterized in [MV2]:

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u(x)|^2 V(x) \, dx \right| \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left( |\nabla u(x)|^2 + |u(x)|^2 \right) dx, \quad u \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n). \tag{60}$$

Such inequalities are used extensively in spectral and scattering theory of the Schrödinger operator  $H_V = -\Delta + V$  and its higher-order analogs, especially in questions of self-adjointness, resolvent convergence, estimates for the number of bound states, Schrödinger semigroups, etc. (See [Bir2], [BS1], [BS2], [CZh], [Dav1], [Far], [F], [RS2], [Sch1], [Sim3], and the literature cited there.) In particular, (60) is equivalent to the fundamental concept of the relative boundedness of the potential energy operator V with respect to  $-\Delta$  in the sense of quadratic forms. Its abstract version appears in the so-called KLMN Theorem, which is discussed in detail together with applications to quantum-mechanical Hamiltonian operators, in [RS2], Sec. X.2.

It follows from the polarization identity that (59) can be restated equivalently in terms of the corresponding sesquilinear form:

$$|\langle Vu, v \rangle| \leq C ||\nabla u||_{L_2} ||\nabla v||_{L_2},$$

for all  $u, v \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . In other words, it is equivalent to the boundedness of the operator  $H_V$ ,

$$H_V: \mathring{L}_2^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L_2^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n), \qquad n \ge 3.$$
 (61)

Here the energy space  $\mathring{L}_{2}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  is defined as the completion of  $C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  with respect to the Dirichlet norm  $||\nabla u||_{L_{2}}$ , and  $L_{2}^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  is the dual of  $\mathring{L}_{2}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ . Similarly, (60) means that H is a bounded operator which maps  $W_{2}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  to  $W_{2}^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ ,  $n \geq 1$ .

Previously, the case of *nonnegative* V in (59) and (60) has been studied in a comprehensive way (see Sect. 5). For general V, only sufficient conditions have been known.

It is worthwhile to observe that the usual "naïve" approach is to decompose V into its positive and negative parts:  $V = V_+ - V_-$ , and to apply the just mentioned results to both  $V_+$  and  $V_-$ . However, this procedure drastically diminishes the class of admissible weights V by ignoring a possible cancellation between  $V_+$  and  $V_-$ . This cancellation phenomenon is evident for strongly oscillating weights considered below. Examples of this type are known mostly in relation to quantum mechanics problems [ASi], [CoG], [NS], [Stu].

The following result obtained in [MV2] reflects a general principle which has much wider range of applications.

**Theorem 12.1** Let V be a complex-valued distribution on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $n \geq 3$ . Then (59) holds if and only if V is the divergence of a vector-field  $\vec{\Gamma} : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$  such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u(x)|^2 \, |\vec{\Gamma}(x)|^2 \, dx \le \operatorname{const} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u(x)|^2 \, dx,\tag{62}$$

where the constant is independent of  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . The vector-field  $\vec{\Gamma} \in \mathbf{L}_2(\mathbb{R}^n, loc)$ can be chosen as  $\vec{\Gamma} = \nabla \Delta^{-1} V$ .

Equivalently, the Schrödinger operator  $H_V$  acting from  $\mathring{L}_2^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $L_2^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is bounded if and only if (62) holds. Furthermore, the corresponding multiplication operator  $V : \mathring{L}_2^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L_2^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is compact if and only if the embedding

$$\mathring{L}_{2}^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) \subset L_{2}(\mathbb{R}^{n}, |\vec{\Gamma}|^{2} dx)$$

is compact.

Once V is written as  $V = \operatorname{div} \vec{\Gamma}$ , the implication (62) $\rightarrow$ (59) becomes trivial. In fact, it follows using integration by parts and the Schwarz inequality. This idea has been known for a long time in mathematical physics (see, e.g., [CoG]) and theory of multipliers in Sobolev spaces [MSha1]. On the other hand, the proof of the converse statement (59) $\rightarrow$ (62) where  $\vec{\Gamma} = \nabla \Delta^{-1} V$  is rather delicate.

Theorem 12.1 makes it possible to reduce the problems of boundedness and compactness for general "indefinite" V to the case of nonnegative weights  $|\vec{\Gamma}|^2$ , which is by now well understood. In particular, combining Theorem 12.1 and the criteria in Sect. 5 for  $|\vec{\Gamma}|^2$  one arrives at analytic necessary and sufficient conditions for (59) to hold.

As a corollary, one obtains a necessary condition for (59) in terms of Morrey spaces of negative order.

**Corollary 12.2** If (59) holds, then, for every ball  $B_r(x_0)$  of radius r,

$$\int_{B_r(x_0)} |\nabla \Delta^{-1} V(x)|^2 \, dx \le C \, r^{n-2},$$

where the constant does not depend on  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and r > 0.

**Corollary 12.3** In the statements of Theorem 12.1 and Corollary 12.2, one can put the scalar function  $(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}V$  in place of  $\vec{\Gamma} = \nabla \Delta^{-1}V$ . In particular, (62) is equivalent to the inequality:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u(x)|^2 \, |(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}} V(x)|^2 \, dx \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u(x)|^2 \, dx, \tag{63}$$

for all  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .

The proof of Corollary 12.3 uses the boundedness of standard singular integral operators in the space of functions  $f \in L_{2,\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u(x)|^2 |f(x)|^2 \, dx \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u(x)|^2 \, dx,$$

for all  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ; this fact was established earlier in [MV1].

Corollary 12.3 indicates that a decomposition into a positive and negative part, appropriate for (59), should involve expressions like  $(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}V$  rather than V itself. Another important consequence is that the class of weights V satisfying (59) is invariant under standard singular integral and maximal operators.

**Remark 12.1** Similar results are valid for inequality (60); one only has to replace the operator  $(-\Delta)^{-1/2}$  with  $(1 - \Delta)^{-1/2}$ , and the Wiener capacity cap F with the corresponding Bessel capacity (see [AH]). It suffices to restrict oneself, in the corresponding statements, to cubes or balls whose volumes are less than 1.

We now discuss some related results in terms of more conventional classes of admissible weights V. The following corollary, which is an immediate consequence of Theorem 12.1 and Corollary 12.3, gives a simpler sufficient condition for (59) with Lorentz-Sobolev spaces of negative order in its formulation.

**Corollary 12.4** Let  $n \geq 3$ , and let V be a distribution on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}V \in L_{n,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $L_{p,\infty}$  denotes the usual Lorentz (weak  $L_p$ ) space. Then (59) holds.

For the definition and basic properties of Lorentz spaces  $L_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  we refer to [SW]. Note that, in particular,  $(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}V \in L_{n,\infty}$  is equivalent to the estimate

$$\int_{F} |(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}} V(x)|^2 \, dx \le C \, (\mathrm{mes}_n F)^{1-2/n}.$$
(64)

The following corollary of Theorem 12.1 is applicable to distributions V, and encompasses a class of weights which is broader than the Fefferman-Phong class (30) even in the case where V is a nonnegative measurable function.

**Corollary 12.5** Let V be a distribution on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  which satisfies, for some t > 1, the inequality

$$\int_{B_r(x_0)} |(-\Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}} V(x)|^{2t} \, dx \le C \, r^{n-2t},\tag{65}$$

for every ball  $B_r(x_0)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Then (59) holds.

Note that by Corollary 12.2 the preceding inequality with t = 1 is necessary for (59) to hold.

**Remark 12.2** A refinement of (65) in terms of the condition (34) established by Chang, Wilson, and Wolff [ChWW] is readily available by combining (34) with Theorem 12.1.

To clarify the multi-dimensional characterizations for "indefinite weights" V presented above, we state an elementary analog of Theorem 12.1 for the Sturm-Liouville operator  $H_V = -\frac{d^2}{dx^2} + V$  on the half-line.

Theorem 12.6 The inequality

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} |u(x)|^2 V(x) \, dx \right| \le C \int_{\mathbb{R}_{+}} |u'(x)|^2 \, dx, \tag{66}$$

holds for all  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$  if and only if

$$\sup_{a>0} a \int_{a}^{\infty} \left| \int_{x}^{\infty} V(t) dt \right|^{2} dx < \infty,$$
(67)

where  $\Gamma(x) = \int_{x}^{\infty} V(t) dt$  is understood in terms of distributions.

Equivalently,  $H_V : \mathring{L}_2^1(\mathbb{R}_+) \to L_2^{-1}(\mathbb{R}_+)$  is bounded if and only if (67) holds. Moreover, the corresponding multiplication operator V is compact if and only if

$$a \int_{a}^{\infty} |\Gamma(x)|^2 dx = o(1), \quad \text{where} \quad a \to 0^+ \quad \text{and} \quad a \to +\infty.$$
 (68)

For nonnegative V, condition (67) is easily seen to be equivalent to the standard Hille condition [Hil]:

$$\sup_{a>0} a \int_{a}^{\infty} V(x) \, dx < \infty.$$
(69)

A similar statement is true for the compactness criterion (68).

#### 13 Infinitesimal form boundedness

Maz'ya and Verbitsky [MV3] characterized the class of potentials  $V \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  which are  $-\Delta$ -form bounded with relative bound zero, i.e., for every  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists  $C(\epsilon) > 0$  such that

$$|\langle Vu, u \rangle| \le \epsilon \, ||\nabla u||_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + C(\epsilon) \, ||u||_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2, \quad \forall u \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

$$\tag{70}$$

In other words, they found necessary and sufficient conditions for the *infinitesimal* form boundedness of the potential energy operator V with respect to the kinetic energy operator  $H_0 = -\Delta$  on  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Here V is an arbitrary real- or complex-valued potential (possibly a distribution). This notion appeared in relation to the KLMN theorem and has become an indispensable tool in mathematical quantum mechanics and PDE theory.

The preceding inequality ensures that, in case V is real-valued, a semi-bounded self-adjoint Schrödinger operator  $H_V = H_0 + V$  can be defined on  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  so that the domain of Q[u, u] coincides with  $W_2^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . For complex-valued V, it follows that  $H_V$ is an *m*-sectorial operator on  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with  $\text{Dom}(H_V) \subset W_2^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  ([RS2], Sec. X.2; [EE], Sec. IV.4).

The characterization of (70) found in [MV3] uses only the functions  $|\nabla(1-\Delta)^{-1}V|$  and  $|(1-\Delta)^{-1}V|$ , and is based on the representation:

$$V = \operatorname{div} \vec{\Gamma} + \gamma, \qquad \vec{\Gamma}(x) = -\nabla (1 - \Delta)^{-1} V, \quad \gamma = (1 - \Delta)^{-1} V.$$
 (71)

In particular, it is shown that, necessarily,  $\vec{\Gamma} \in L_2(\mathbb{R}^n, loc)^n$ ,  $\gamma \in L_1(\mathbb{R}^n, loc)$ , and, when  $n \geq 3$ ,

$$\lim_{\delta \to +0} \sup_{x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n} \, \delta^{2-n} \int_{B_\delta(x_0)} \left( |\vec{\Gamma}(x)|^2 + |\gamma(x)| \right) \, dx = 0,\tag{72}$$

once (70) holds.

In the opposite direction, it follows from the results in [MV3] that (70) holds whenever

$$\lim_{\delta \to +0} \sup_{x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n} \delta^{2r-n} \int_{B_{\delta}(x_0)} \left( |\vec{\Gamma}(x)|^2 + |\gamma(x)| \right)^r \, dx = 0, \tag{73}$$

where r > 1. Such admissible potentials form a natural analog of the Fefferman– Phong class (30) for the infinitesimal form boundedness problem where cancellations between the positive and negative parts of V come into play. It includes functions with highly oscillatory behavior as well as singular measures, and properly contains the class of potentials based on the original Fefferman–Phong condition where |V| is used in (73) in place of  $|\vec{\Gamma}|^2 + |\gamma|$ . Moreover, one can expand this class further using the sharper condition (34) applied to  $|\vec{\Gamma}|^2 + |\gamma|$ .

A complete characterization of (70) obtained in [MV3] is given in the following theorem which provides for deducing explicit criteria of the infinitesimal form bound-edness in terms of the *nonnegative* locally integrable functions  $|\vec{\Gamma}|^2$  and  $|\gamma|$ .

**Theorem 13.1** Let  $V \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $n \geq 2$ . The following statements are equivalent:

(i) V is infinitesimally form bounded with respect to  $-\Delta$ .

(ii) V has the form (71) where  $\vec{\Gamma} = -\nabla(1-\Delta)^{-1}V$ ,  $\gamma = (1-\Delta)^{-1}V$ , and the measure  $\mu \in M^+(\mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by

$$d\mu = \left( |\vec{\Gamma}(x)|^2 + |\gamma(x)| \right) \, dx \tag{74}$$

has the property that, for every  $\epsilon > 0$ , there exists  $C(\epsilon) > 0$  such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |u(x)|^2 d\mu \le \epsilon \left\| \nabla u \right\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + C(\epsilon) \left\| \nabla u \right\|_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2, \quad \forall u \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n).$$
(75)

(iii) For  $\mu$  defined by (74),

$$\lim_{\delta \to +0} \sup_{P_0: \operatorname{diam} P_0 \le \delta} \frac{1}{\mu(P_0)} \sum_{P \subseteq P_0} \frac{\mu(P)^2}{(\operatorname{mes}_n P)^{1-2/n}} = 0,$$
(76)

where P,  $P_0$  are dyadic cubes in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , i.e., sets of the form  $2^i(k + [0, 1)^n)$ , where  $i \in \mathbb{Z}, k \in \mathbb{Z}^n$ .

(iv) For  $\mu$  defined by (74),

$$\lim_{\delta \to +0} \sup_{F: \operatorname{diam} F \le \delta} \frac{\mu(F)}{\operatorname{cap} F} = 0, \tag{77}$$

where F denotes a compact set of positive capacity in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

(v) For  $\mu$  defined by (74),

$$\lim_{\delta \to +0} \sup_{x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{\left\| \mu_{B_{\delta}(x_0)} \right\|_{W_2^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2}{\mu(B_{\delta}(x_0))} = 0, \tag{78}$$

where  $\mu_{B_{\delta}(x_0)}$  is the restriction of  $\mu$  to the ball  $B_{\delta}(x_0)$ .

(vi) For  $\mu$  defined by (74),

$$\lim_{\delta \to +0} \sup_{x, x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n} \frac{G_1 * (G_1 * \mu_{B_{\delta}(x_0)})^2 (x)}{G_1 * \mu_{B_{\delta}(x_0)}(x)} = 0,$$
(79)

where  $G_1 * \mu = (1 - \Delta)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \mu$  is the Bessel potential of order 1.

In the one-dimensional case, the infinitesimal form boundedness of the Sturm-Liouville operator  $H_V = -d^2/dx^2 + V$  on  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^1)$  is actually a consequence of the form boundedness.

**Theorem 13.2** Let  $V \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^1)$ . Then the following statements are equivalent.

- (i) V is infinitesimally form bounded with respect to  $-d^2/dx^2$ .
- (ii) V is form bounded with respect to  $-d^2/dx^2$ , i.e.,

$$|\langle V u, u \rangle| \le C \, ||u||_{W_2^1(\mathbb{R}^1)}^2, \quad \forall u \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^1).$$

(iii) V can be represented in the form  $V = d\Gamma/dx + \gamma$ , where

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^1} \int_x^{x+1} \left( |\Gamma(x)|^2 + |\gamma(x)| \right) \, dx < +\infty.$$

$$\tag{80}$$

(iv) Condition (80) holds where

$$\Gamma(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^1} \operatorname{sign} (x - t) e^{-|x - t|} V(t) dt, \qquad \gamma(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^1} e^{-|x - t|} V(t) dt$$

are understood in the distributional sense.

(v) V belongs to the space  $W_2^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^1, unif)$ , with the norm

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^1} \|\eta(x - \cdot) V\|_{W_2^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^1)}, \quad \text{where } \eta \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^1), \ \eta(0) = 1.$$

The statement (iii) $\Rightarrow$ (i) in Theorem 13.2 can be found in [Sch1], Theorem 11.2.1, whereas (ii) $\Rightarrow$ (iv) follows from results in [MV2], Theorem 4.2 and [MV3], Theorem 2.5. The equivalence of (ii) and (v) is proved in [MSha2], Corollary 9.

### 14 Kato's condition $K_n$

Among well-known sufficient conditions for (70) which ignore possible cancellations, we mention:  $Q \in L^{\frac{n}{2}}(\mathbb{R}^n) + L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$   $(n \geq 3)$  and  $Q \in L^r(\mathbb{R}^2) + L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ , r > 1(n = 2) (see [BrK]), as well as Kato's condition  $K_n$  introduced in [Ka2]:

$$\lim_{\delta \to +0} \sup_{x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n} \int_{B_{\delta}(x_0)} \frac{|Q(x)|}{|x - x_0|^{n-2}} \, dx = 0, \qquad n \ge 3, \tag{81}$$

$$\lim_{\delta \to +0} \sup_{x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n} \int_{B_{\delta}(x_0)} \log \frac{1}{|x - x_0|} |Q(x)| \, dx = 0, \qquad n = 2.$$
(82)

Kato's class proved to be especially important in studies of Schrödinger semigroups, Dirichlet forms, and Harnack inequalities [Agm], [ASi], [Sim3]. Theorem 13.1 yields that (70) actually holds for a substantially broader class of potentials for which  $|\vec{\Gamma}|^2 + |\gamma| \in K_n$ . We emphasize that no *a priori* assumptions were imposed on  $C(\epsilon)$ in this theorem. An observation of Aizenman and Simon states that, under the hypothesis

$$C(\epsilon) \le a e^{b \epsilon^{-p}}$$
 for some  $a, b > 0$  and  $0 ,$ 

all potentials V which obey (70) with |V| in place of V are contained in Kato's class. This was first proved in [ASi] using the Feynman–Kac formalism. In [MV3], a sharp result of this kind is obtained with a simple analytic proof. It is shown that if (70) holds with |V| in place of  $V \in L^{1}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$ , then for any  $C(\epsilon) > 0$ ,

$$\sup_{x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n} \int_{B_{\delta}(x_0)} \frac{|V(x)|}{|x - x_0|^{n-2}} \, dx \le c \, \int_{\delta^{-2}}^{+\infty} \frac{\hat{C}(s)}{s^2} \, ds, \qquad n \ge 3, \tag{83}$$

$$\sup_{x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^2} \int_{B_{\delta}(x_0)} \log \frac{1}{|x - x_0|} |V(x)| \, dx \le c \int_{\delta^{-2}}^{+\infty} \frac{\hat{C}(s)}{s^2 \log s} \, ds, \qquad n = 2, \qquad (84)$$

where c is a constant which depends only on n, and  $\delta$  is sufficiently small. Here  $\hat{C}(s) = \inf_{\epsilon>0} \{C(\epsilon) + s \epsilon\}$  is the Legendre transform of  $-C(\epsilon)$ . In particular, it follows that the condition  $C(\epsilon) \leq a e^{b \epsilon^{-p}}$  for any p > 0 is enough to ensure that  $V \in K_2$  in the more subtle two-dimensional case.

# 15 Trudinger's subordination for the Schrödinger operator

In [MV3] inequality (70) is studied also under the assumption that  $C(\epsilon)$  has power growth, i.e., there exists  $\epsilon_0 > 0$  such that

$$|\langle Vu, u \rangle| \le \epsilon \, ||\nabla u||_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2 + c \, \epsilon^{-\beta} \, ||u||_{L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)}^2, \quad \forall u \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n), \tag{85}$$

for every  $\epsilon \in (0, \epsilon_0)$ , where  $\beta > 0$ . Such inequalities appear in studies of elliptic PDE with measurable coefficients [Tru], and have been used extensively in spectral theory of the Schrödinger operator [ASi], [Ka2], [RS2], [RSS], [Sch1], [Dav1], [Dav2], [LPS], [Sim3].

As it turns out, it is still possible to characterize (85) using only  $|\vec{\Gamma}|$  and  $|\gamma|$  defined by (71), provided  $\beta > 1$ . It is shown in [MV3] that in this case (85) holds if and only if both of the following conditions hold:

$$\sup_{\substack{x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ \gamma < \delta < \delta_0}} \delta^{2\frac{\beta-1}{\beta+1} - n} \int_{B_{\delta}(x_0)} |\vec{\Gamma}(x)|^2 \, dx < +\infty, \tag{86}$$

$$\sup_{\substack{x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ \delta < \delta_0}} \delta^{\frac{2\beta}{\beta+1}-n} \int_{B_{\delta}(x_0)} |\gamma(x)| \, dx < +\infty, \tag{87}$$

for some  $\delta_0 > 0$ . However, in the case  $\beta \leq 1$  this is no longer true. For  $\beta = 1$ , (86) has to be replaced with the condition that  $\vec{\Gamma}$  is in the local BMO space, or respectively is Hölder-continuous of order  $(1 - \beta)/(1 + \beta)$  if  $0 < \beta < 1$ .

In the homogeneous case  $\epsilon_0 = +\infty$ , (85) is equivalent to the *multiplicative in-equality* (36) where  $\tau = \beta/(1+\beta) \in (0, 1)$ . In spectral theory, (36) is referred to as the form  $\tau$ -subordination property (see, e.g., [Agr], [Gr1], [Gr2], [MM1], [RSS], Sec. 20.4).

For nonnegative potentials V, where V coincides with a locally finite measure  $\mu$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , inequality (36) is equivalent to (37) [Maz7], Sect. 1.4.7. For general V, the

following result is obtained in [MV3]. If  $\tau > 1/2$ , then (36) holds if and only if  $\nabla \Delta^{-1} V$  lies in the Morrey space  $\mathcal{L}^{2,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , where  $\lambda = n + 2 - 4\tau$ . The Morrey space  $\mathcal{L}^{r,\lambda}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  ( $r > 0, \lambda > 0$ ) consists of  $f \in L^r(\mathbb{R}^n, loc)$  such that

$$\sup_{x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n, \, \delta > 0} \ \frac{1}{|B_{\delta}(x_0)|^{\lambda/n}} \int_{B_{\delta}(x_0)} |f(x)|^r \, dx < +\infty.$$

We refer to [Pe] for the overview of Morrey spaces. For  $\tau = 1/2$ , (36) holds if and only if  $\nabla \Delta^{-1} V \in \text{BMO}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and for  $0 < \tau < 1/2$ , whenever  $\nabla \Delta^{-1} V$  is in the Hölder class  $C^{1-2\tau}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . These different characterizations are equivalent to (37) if V is a nonnegative measure.

# 16 Discreteness of the spectrum of $-\Delta + \mathbb{V}$ with nonnegative potential

Friedrichs proved in 1934 [Fr] that to the left of the point  $\lim \inf_{|x|\to\infty} V(x)$ , the spectrum of the Schrödinger operator  $H_V = -\Delta + V$  in  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with a locally integrable potential V is discrete, and hence all spectrum is discrete provided  $V(x) \to +\infty$  as  $|x| \to \infty$ . By Rellich's criterion [Re2], the spectrum of  $H_V$  is purely discrete if and only if the ball  $(H_V u, u) \leq 1$  is a compact subset of  $L_2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . This and the discreteness of spectrum easily imply that for every d > 0

$$\int_{Q_d} V(x)dx \to +\infty \quad \text{as} \quad Q_d \to \infty, \tag{88}$$

where  $Q_d$  is a closed cube with the edge length d and with the edges parallel to coordinate axes,  $Q_d \to \infty$  means that the cube  $Q_d$  goes to infinity (with fixed d). In 1953 A.M.Molchanov [Mol] proved that this condition is in fact necessary and sufficient in case n = 1 but not sufficient for  $n \ge 2$ . He also discovered a modification of (88) which is equivalent to the discreteness of spectrum in the case  $n \ge 2$ :

$$\inf_{F} \int_{Q_d \setminus F} V(x) dx \to +\infty \quad \text{as} \quad Q_d \to \infty, \tag{89}$$

where infimum is taken over all compact subsets F of  $Q_d$  which are called *negligible*. The negligibility of F in the sense of Molchanov means that  $\operatorname{cap} F \leq \gamma \operatorname{cap}(Q_d)$ , where cap is the Wiener capacity and  $\gamma > 0$  is a sufficiently small constant. More precisely, Molchanov proved that one can take  $\gamma = c_n$  where  $\gamma = c_n = (4n)^{-4n} (\operatorname{cap}(Q_1))^{-1}$  for  $n \geq 3$ .

As early as in 1953, I.M.Gelfand raised the question about the best possible constant  $c_n$  (personal communication). We describe results from [MShu1], where a complete answer to this question is given.

Let  $\mathbb{V}$  be a positive Radon measure in an open set  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ , absolutely continuous with respect to the Wiener capacity. We will consider the Schrödinger operator  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$ which is formally given by the expression  $-\Delta + \mathbb{V}$ . It is defined in  $L_2(\Omega)$  by the closure of the quadratic form Q[u, u] with the domain  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .

Instead of the cubes  $Q_d$ , a more general family of test bodies will be used. Let us start with a standard open set  $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ . We assume that  $\mathcal{G}$  satisfies the following conditions:

- (a)  $\mathcal{G}$  is bounded and star-shaped with respect to the ball  $B_{\rho}$ ;
- (b) diam( $\mathcal{G}$ ) = 1.

For any positive d > 0 denote by  $\mathcal{G}_d(0)$  the body  $\{x : d^{-1}x \in \mathcal{G}\}$  which is homothetic to  $\mathcal{G}$  with coefficient d and with the center of homothety at 0. We will denote by  $\mathcal{G}_d$  a body which is obtained from  $\mathcal{G}_d(0)$  by a parallel translation:  $\mathcal{G}_d(y) =$  $y + \mathcal{G}_d(0)$  where y is an arbitrary vector in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

The notation  $\mathcal{G}_d \to \infty$  means that the distance from  $\mathcal{G}_d$  to 0 goes to infinity. **Definition.** Let  $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ . The *negligibility class*  $\mathcal{N}_{\gamma}(\mathcal{G}_d; \Omega)$  consists of all compact sets  $F \subset \overline{\mathcal{G}}_d$  satisfying the following conditions:

$$\bar{\mathcal{G}}_d \setminus \Omega \subset F \subset \bar{\mathcal{G}}_d , \qquad (90)$$

and

$$\operatorname{cap} F \le \gamma \operatorname{cap} G_d. \tag{91}$$

Now we formulate the main result of the work in [MShu1] about the discreteness of spectrum.

**Theorem 16.1** (i) (Necessity) Let the spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  be discrete. Then for every function  $\gamma : (0, +\infty) \to (0, 1)$  and every d > 0

$$\inf_{F \in \mathcal{N}_{\gamma(d)}(\mathcal{G}_d, \Omega)} \mathbb{V}(\bar{\mathcal{G}}_d \setminus F) \to +\infty \quad \text{as} \quad \mathcal{G}_d \to \infty.$$
(92)

(ii) (Sufficiency) Let a function  $d \to \gamma(d) \in (0,1)$  be defined for d > 0 in a neighborhood of 0, and satisfy

$$\limsup_{d \downarrow 0} d^{-2} \gamma(d) = +\infty.$$
(93)

Assume that there exists  $d_0 > 0$  such that (92) holds for every  $d \in (0, d_0)$ . Then the spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  in  $L_2(\Omega)$  is discrete.

Let us make some comments about this theorem.

**Remark 16.1** It suffices for the discreteness of spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  that the condition (92) holds only for a sequence of d's, i.e.  $d \in \{d_1, d_2, \ldots\}, d_k \to 0$  and  $d_k^{-2}\gamma(d_k) \to +\infty$  as  $k \to +\infty$ .

**Remark 16.2** The condition (92) in the sufficiency part can be replaced by a weaker requirement: there exist c > 0 and  $d_0 > 0$  such that for every  $d \in (0, d_0)$  there exists R > 0 such that

$$d^{-n} \inf_{F \in \mathcal{N}_{\gamma(d)}(\mathcal{G}_d, \Omega)} \mathbb{V}(\bar{\mathcal{G}}_d \setminus F) \ge cd^{-2}\gamma(d),$$
(94)

whenever  $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_d \cap (\Omega \setminus B_R) \neq \emptyset$  (i.e. for distant bodies  $\mathcal{G}_d$  having non-empty intersection with  $\Omega$ ). Moreover, it suffices that the condition (94) is satisfied for a sequence  $d = d_k$ satisfying the condition formulated in Remark 16.1.

Note that unlike (92), the condition (94) does not require that the left-hand side goes to  $+\infty$  as  $\mathcal{G}_d \to \infty$ . What is actually needed is that the left-hand side has a certain lower bound, depending on d for arbitrarily small d > 0 and distant test bodies  $\mathcal{G}_d$ . Nevertheless, the conditions (92) and (94) are equivalent because each is equivalent to the discreteness of spectrum.

**Remark 16.3** If we take  $\gamma = const \in (0, 1)$ , then Theorem 16.1 gives Molchanov's result, but with the constant  $\gamma = c_n$  replaced by an arbitrary constant  $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ . So Theorem 16.1 contains an answer to the above-mentioned Gelfand's question.

**Remark 16.4** For any two functions  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 : (0, +\infty) \to (0, 1)$  satisfying the requirement (93), the conditions (92) are equivalent, and so are the conditions (94), because any of these conditions is equivalent to the discreteness of spectrum.

It follows that the conditions (92) for different constants  $\gamma \in (0, 1)$  are equivalent. In the particular case, when the measure  $\mathbb{V}$  is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure, we see that the conditions (89) with different constants  $\gamma \in (0, 1)$  are equivalent.

**Remark 16.5** The results above are new even for the operator  $-\Delta$  in  $L_2(\Omega)$  (for an arbitrary open set  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  with the Dirichlet boundary conditions on  $\partial\Omega$ ). In this case the discreteness of spectrum is completely determined by the geometry of  $\Omega$ . More precisely, for the discreteness of spectrum of  $H_0$  in  $L_2(\Omega)$  it is necessary and sufficient that there exists  $d_0 > 0$  such that for every  $d \in (0, d_0)$ 

$$\lim_{\mathcal{G}_d \to \infty} \inf \operatorname{cap}(\bar{\mathcal{G}}_d \setminus \Omega) \ge \gamma(d) \operatorname{cap} \bar{\mathcal{G}}_d, \tag{95}$$

where  $d \to \gamma(d) \in (0, 1)$  is a function, which is defined in a neighborhood of 0 and satisfies (93). The conditions (95) with different functions  $\gamma$ , satisfying the conditions above, are equivalent. This is a non-trivial property of capacity. It is necessary for the discreteness of spectrum that (95) holds for every function  $\gamma : (0, +\infty) \to (0, 1)$ and every d > 0, but this condition may not be sufficient if  $\gamma$  does not satisfy (93) (see Theorem 16.2 below).

The following result demonstrates that the condition (93) is precise.

**Theorem 16.2** Assume that  $\gamma(d) = O(d^2)$  as  $d \to 0$ . Then there exists an open set  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $d_0 > 0$  such that for every  $d \in (0, d_0)$  the condition (95) is satisfied but the spectrum of  $-\Delta$  in  $L_2(\Omega)$  with the Dirichlet boundary conditions is not discrete.

#### 17 Strict positivity of the spectrum of $-\Delta + \mathbb{V}$

We say that the operator  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$ , the same as in Sect. 11, is *strictly positive* if its spectrum does not contain 0. Equivalently, we can say that the spectrum is separated from 0. The strict positivity is equivalent to the existence of  $\lambda > 0$  such that

$$Q[u, u] \ge \lambda \|u\|_{L_2(\Omega)}^2, \quad u \in C_0^\infty(\Omega).$$
(96)

The characterization of positivity of the spectrum in the next theorem with Molchanov's negligible sets in the formulation was found in [Maz5] (see also [Maz7], Sect. 12.5). The present stronger version is obtained by Maz'ya and Shubin in [MShu1].

**Theorem 17.1** (i) (Necessity) Let us assume that  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  is strictly positive, so that (96) is satisfied with a constant  $\lambda > 0$ . Let us take an arbitrary  $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ . Then there exist  $d_0 > 0$  and  $\varkappa > 0$  such that

$$d^{-n} \inf_{F \in \mathcal{N}_{\gamma}(\mathcal{G}_d, \Omega)} \mathbb{V}(\bar{\mathcal{G}}_d \setminus F) \ge \varkappa$$
(97)

for every  $d > d_0$  and every  $\mathcal{G}_d$ .

(ii) (Sufficiency) Assume that there exist d > 0,  $\varkappa > 0$  and  $\gamma \in (0,1)$ , such that (97) is satisfied for every  $\mathcal{G}_d$ . Then the operator  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  is strictly positive.

Instead of all bodies  $\mathcal{G}_d$  it is sufficient to take only the ones from a finite multiplicity covering (or tiling) of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

**Remark 17.1** Considering the Dirichlet Laplacian in  $L_2(\Omega)$  we see from Theorem 17.1 that for any choice of a constant  $\gamma \in (0, 1)$  and a standard body  $\mathcal{G}$ , the strict positivity of  $-\Delta$  is equivalent to the following condition

$$\exists d > 0, \text{ such that } \operatorname{cap}(\bar{\mathcal{G}}_d \cap (\mathbb{R}^n \backslash \Omega)) \ge \gamma \operatorname{cap}(\bar{\mathcal{G}}_d) \text{ for all } \mathcal{G}_d.$$
(98)

In particular, it follows that for two different  $\gamma$ 's these conditions are equivalent. Noting that  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega$  can be an arbitrary closed subset in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we get a property of the Wiener capacity, which is obtained as a byproduct of our spectral theory arguments.

# 18 Two-sided estimates for the bottom of spectrum and essential spectrum

Let  $\lambda = \lambda(\Omega, H_{\mathbb{V}})$  denote the greatest lower bound of the spectrum of the Schrödinger operator  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  handled in the two preceding sections. By  $\mathcal{Q}_{\Omega}$  we denote the set of all cubes  $Q_d$  having a negligible intersection with the complement of  $\Omega$  (in Molchanov's sense), i.e.

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\Omega} = \{ Q_d : \operatorname{cap}(Q_d \setminus \Omega) \le \gamma \operatorname{cap} Q_d \},$$
(99)

where  $\gamma$  is sufficiently small.

For  $\mathbb{V} = 0$  Maz'ya [Maz6] and for the general case Maz'ya and Otelbaev [MaO] (see also [Maz7], Ch. 12) obtained the two-sided estimate

$$c_1 D^{-2} \le \lambda \le c_2 D^{-2},$$
 (100)

with  $D = D(\Omega, \mathbb{V})$  given by

$$D = \sup_{Q_d \in \mathcal{Q}_{\Omega}} \left\{ d: \ d^{n-2} \ge \inf_F \mathbb{V}(Q_d \setminus F) \right\}.$$
(101)

Here  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  are positive constants which depend only upon n and the infimum is taken over all sets F, satisfying

$$Q_d \setminus \Omega \subset F \subset Q_d$$
 and  $\operatorname{cap} F \leq \gamma \operatorname{cap} Q_d$ .

Clearly, the strict positivity of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  is equivalent to the condition  $D < \infty$ .

In particular, if  $\mathbb{V} = 0$ , then D becomes the capacitary interior diameter of  $\Omega$ : the maximal size d of cubes  $Q_d$  with the negligible intersection with  $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega$  (i.e. cubes  $Q_d \in \mathcal{Q}_{\Omega}$ ). The notion of the capacitary interior diameter was introduced in [Maz6]. Explicit estimates for  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  in the case  $\mathbb{V} = 0$  are given in [MShu2], where also the smallness condition of  $\gamma$  is replaced with  $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ .

The paper [MaO] (see also [Maz7], Ch. 12) also contains a two-sided estimate for the bottom of the essential spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  in  $L_2(\Omega)$ . We will denote this bottom by  $\Lambda = \Lambda(\Omega; H_{\mathbb{V}})$ . The estimate has the form

$$c_1 D_\infty^{-2} \le \Lambda \le c_2 D_\infty^{-2},\tag{102}$$

where

$$D_{\infty} = \lim_{R \to \infty} D(\Omega \setminus \bar{B}_R, \mathbb{V}, \gamma).$$
(103)

Note that the discreteness of spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  is equivalent to the equality  $\Lambda = +\infty$ . Therefore, (102) implies that  $D_{\infty} = 0$  is necessary and sufficient for the pure discreteness of the spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$ .

In the recent work [Tay] M. Taylor found another criterion of discreteness of the spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  stated in terms of the so-called scattering length of  $\mathbb{V}$ .

#### **19** Structure of the essential spectrum of $H_{\mathbb{V}}$

We use the same notation as in Sections 16–18. The following result is due to Glazman [Gl].

**Lemma 19.1** If the spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  is not purely discrete, the essential spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  extends to infinity. Moreover, if 0 belongs to the essential spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$ , then this spectrum coincides with  $[0, \infty)$ .

**Proof.** Let  $\Lambda$  be the bottom of the essential spectrum. Then there exists a sequence of real-valued functions  $\{\varphi_{\nu}\}_{\nu\geq 1}$  in  $C_{0}^{\infty}(\Omega)$  subject to the conditions

$$\|\varphi_{\nu}\|_{L_2(\Omega)} = 1, \qquad \varphi_{\nu} \to 0 \quad \text{weakly in } L_2(\Omega),$$
(104)

$$\|(H_{\mathbb{V}} - \Lambda) \varphi_{\nu}\|_{L_2(\Omega)} \to 0.$$
(105)

We set

$$u_{\nu} = \varphi_{\nu} \exp\left(i(\alpha - \Lambda)^{1/2} \sum_{k=1}^{n} x_k\right),$$

where  $\alpha > \Lambda$ . We see that  $u_{\nu}$  satisfies (104) and that

$$\|(H_{\mathbb{V}} - \alpha) u_{\nu}\|_{L_{2}(\Omega)}^{2} = \|(H_{\mathbb{V}} - \Lambda) \varphi_{\nu}\|_{L_{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + 4(\alpha - \Lambda)\|\sum_{k=1}^{n} \partial \varphi_{\nu} / \partial x_{k}\|_{L_{2}(\Omega)}^{2}.$$

Since the right-hand side does not exceed

$$\|(H_{\mathbb{V}} - \Lambda) \varphi_{\nu}\|_{L_{2}(\Omega)}^{2} + 4(\alpha - \Lambda) Q[\varphi_{\nu}, \varphi_{\nu}],$$

we have

$$\|(H_{\mathbb{V}} - \alpha) u_{\nu}\|_{L_{2}(\Omega)}^{2} \leq \|(H_{\mathbb{V}} - \Lambda) \varphi_{\nu}\|_{L_{2}(\Omega)}^{2}$$
$$+4n(\alpha - \Lambda) \|(H_{\mathbb{V}} - \Lambda) \varphi_{\nu}\|_{L_{2}(\Omega)} + 4n\Lambda(\alpha - \Lambda).$$

By (105)

$$\limsup_{\nu \to \infty} \| (H_{\mathbb{V}} - \alpha) \, u_{\nu} \|_{L_2(\Omega)} \le \rho(\alpha),$$

where  $\rho(\alpha) = 2(n \Lambda(\alpha - \Lambda))^{1/2}$ . It follows that any segment  $[\alpha - \rho(\alpha), \alpha + \rho(\alpha)]$  contains points of the essential spectrum. If, in particular,  $\Lambda = 0$  then every positive  $\alpha$  belongs to the essential spectrum.  $\Box$ 

In concert with this lemma the pairs  $(\Omega, \mathbb{V})$  can be divided into three non-overlapping classes. The first class includes  $(\Omega, \mathbb{V})$  such that the spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  is discrete. The pair  $(\Omega, \mathbb{V})$  belongs to the second class if the essential spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  is unbounded and strictly positive. Finally,  $(\Omega, \mathbb{V})$  is of the third class if the essential spectrum of  $H_{\mathbb{V}}$  coincides with  $[0, \infty)$ .

By (101) and (102) the three classes can be described as follows:

(i)  $(\Omega, \mathbb{V})$  belongs to the first class if and only if  $D_{\infty} = 0$ .

(ii)  $(\Omega, \mathbb{V})$  belongs to the second class if and only if  $D_{\infty} > 0$ .

(iii)  $(\Omega, \mathbb{V})$  belongs to the third class if and only if  $D = \infty$  (or, equivalently,  $D_{\infty} = \infty$ ).

By Theorem 16.1, the condition (i) is equivalent to (92) and (ii) holds if and only if (97) is valid. Finally, (iii) is equivalent to the failure of (95) by Theorem 17.1 and Lemma 19.1. In other words, (iii) holds if and only if

$$\liminf_{\mathcal{G}_d \to \infty} \inf_{F \in \mathcal{N}_{\gamma(d)}(\mathcal{G}_d, \Omega)} \mathbb{V}(\bar{\mathcal{G}}_d \setminus F) = 0$$

for every d > 0.

There are still open problems in the study of conditions insuring the absolute continuity of the spectrum. B. Simon conjectured in [Sim5] that the absolutely continuous spectrum of  $H_V$  with V subject to

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (V(x))^2 (1+|x|)^{1-n} \, dx < \infty$$

is the positive real axis. An interesting sufficient condition supporting this conjecture:

 $V = \operatorname{div} \vec{\Gamma} \quad \text{and} \quad |V(x)| + |\vec{\Gamma}(x)| \leq c \, (1+|x|)^{-1/2-\varepsilon}, \ \varepsilon > 0,$ 

has been obtained recently by Denisov in [Den].

# 20 Two measure boundedness and compactness criteria

The following lemma is a particular case of a more general result from [Maz4] (see also [Maz7], Sect. 2.3.7).

**Lemma 20.1** Let  $\mu$  and  $\nu$  be two nonnegative Radon measures in  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ ,  $n \geq 1$ . The inequality

$$\int_{\Omega} |u|^2 d\mu \le C \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 dx + \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 d\nu \right)$$
(106)

holds for all  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  if and only if there exists a constant K > 0 such that for all open bounded sets g and G subject to  $\bar{g} \subset G$ ,  $\bar{G} \subset \Omega$ , the inequality

$$\mu(g) \le K(\operatorname{cap}_G \bar{g} + \nu(G)) \tag{107}$$

holds.

This criterion becomes more transparent in the one-dimensional case because the capacity admits an explicit representation.

**Theorem 20.2** (see [Maz9]) Let n = 1 and let  $\sigma_d$  denote the open interval (x-d, x+d). Inequality

$$\int_{\Omega} |u|^2 d\mu \le C \Big( \int_{\Omega} |u'|^2 dx + \int_{\Omega} |u|^2 d\nu \Big)$$
(108)

holds for all  $u \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  if and only if

$$\mu(\sigma_d(x)) \le const(\tau^{-1} + \nu(\sigma_{d+\tau}(x))), \tag{109}$$

where x, d, and  $\tau$  are such that  $\overline{\sigma_{d+\tau}(x)} \subset \Omega$ , is valid without complementary assumptions about  $\mu$  and  $\nu$ . The sharp constant C in (108) is equivalent to

$$\sup_{x,d,\tau} \frac{\mu(\sigma_d(x))}{\tau^{-1} + \nu(\sigma_{d+\tau}(x))},$$

where x, d, and  $\tau$  are the same as in (109).

We define the space  $\check{W}_2^1(\nu)$  as the closure of  $C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  with respect to the norm

$$||f||_{\mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\nu)} = \left(\int_{\Omega} |f'(x)|^{2} dx + \int_{\Omega} |f(x)|^{2} d\nu\right)^{1/2}.$$

The condition (109) is a criterion of boundedness for the embedding operator I:  $\mathring{W}_{2}^{1}(\nu) \rightarrow L_{2}(\mu)$ .

The next theorem contains a two-sided estimate for the essential norm of I. We recall that the essential norm of a bounded linear operator A acting from X into Y, where X and Y are linear normed spaces, is defined by

$$\operatorname{ess} \|A\| = \inf_{T} \|A - T\|$$

with infimum taken over all compact operators  $T: X \to Y$ .

Theorem 20.3 [Maz9] Let

$$E(\mu,\nu): \lim_{M\to\infty} \sup_{x,d,\tau} \frac{\mu(\sigma_d(x)\setminus[-M,M])}{\tau^{-1}+\nu(\sigma_{d+\tau}(x))}.$$

There exist positive constants  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  such that

$$c_1 E(\mu, \nu)^{1/2} \le \operatorname{ess} ||I|| \le c_2 E(\mu, \nu)^{1/2}.$$
 (110)

In particular, the operator I is compact if and only if

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \sup_{x,d,\tau} \frac{\mu(\sigma_d(x) \setminus [-M,M])}{\tau^{-1} + \nu(\sigma_{d+\tau}(x))} = 0$$

where x, d, and  $\tau$  are the same as in (109).

# References

- [AH] D.R. Adams, L.I. Hedberg. Function Spaces and Potential Theory, Springer, 1996.
- [Agm] S. Agmon, On positive solutions of elliptic equations with periodic coefficients in R<sup>n</sup>, spectral results and extensions to elliptic operators on Riemannian manifolds, Differential Equations (Birmingham, Ala., 1983), 7–17. North-Holland Math. Stud. 92, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1984.
- [Agr] M. S. Agranovich. On series in root vectors of operators defined by forms with a selfadjoint principal part, Funct. Anal Appl., 28 (1994), 151–167.
- [ASi] M. Aizenman, B. Simon. Brownian motion and Harnack inequality for Schrödinger operators, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 35 (1982), 209-273.
- [Bir1] M. S. Birman, On the spectrum of Schrödinger and Dirac operators, Dokl. AN SSSR 129 (1959), 239–241.
- [Bir2] M. S. Birman. The spectrum of singular boundary problems Mat. Sb. (Russian) 55 (1961), 125-174; English transl. in Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. 53 (1966), 23-80.
- [BS1] M. S. Birman, M. Z. Solomyak, Spectral Theory of Self-Adjoint Operators in Hilbert Space, D. Reidel Publishing Company, Dordrecht-Boston-Lancaster, 1987.

- [BS2] M. S. Birman, M. Z. Solomyak. Schrödinger operator. Estimates for number of bound states as function-theoretical problem, Amer. Math. Soc. Transl., Ser. 2, 1 Amer. Math. Soc. Providence, RI, 150 (1992), 1-54.
- [BMS] M. Braverman, O. Milatovich, M. Shubin, Essential self-adjointness of Schrödinger-type operators on manifolds. Russian Math. Surveys 57:4 (2002), 641–692.
- [BrK] H. Brezis and T. Kato. Remarks on the Schrödinger operator with singular complex potentials, J. Math. Pures Appl., 58 (1979), 137–151.
- [Car] L. Carleson. Selected Problems on Exceptional Sets, Van Nostrand, Princeton, New Jersey, 1967.
- [CMaz] A. Carlsson, V. Maz'ya. On approximation in weighted Sobolev spaces and selfadjointness, Math. Scand. 74:1 (1992), 111-124.
- [ChWW] S.-Y.A. Chang, J.M. Wilson, T.H. Wolff. Some weighted norm inequalities concerning the Schrödinger operators, Comment. Math. Helv. 60:2 (1985), 217-246.
- [Cho] G. Choquet. Theory of capacities, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 5 (1953-1954), 131-295.
- [CZh] K. L. Chung, Z. Zhao, From Brownian motion to Schrödinger's equation, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1995.
- [CFKS] H. Cycon, R. Fröse, W. Kirsch, B. Simon. Schrödinger Operators with Application to Quantum Mechanics and Global Geometry, Springer, Berlin, 1987.
- [CoG] M. Combescure, J. Ginibre. Spectral and scattering theory for the Schrödinger operator with strongly oscillating potentials, Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Sec. A: Physique théorique, 24 (1976), 17-29.
- [Dav] E.B. Davies. Spectral Theory and Differential Operators, Cambridge University Press, 1995.
- [Dav1] E. B. Davies. L<sup>p</sup> spectral theory of higher order elliptic differential operators, Bull. London Math. Soc. 29 (1997), 513-546.
- [Dav2] E. B. Davies. A review of Hardy inequalities, The Maz'ya Anniversary Collection, Eds. J. Rossmann, P. Takác, and G. Wildenhain, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, Vol. 110, Birkhäuser, 1999, 55-67,
- [Den] S. Denisov. Absolutely continuous spectrum of multidimensional Schrödinger operator. Intern. Math. Research Notices, no. 74 (2000), 3963 - 3982.
- [EE] D.E. Edmunds, W.D. Evans, Spectral Theory and Differential Operators, Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1987.
- [Far] W. G. Faris. Self-Adjoint Operators, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1975, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 433.
- [F] C. Fefferman. The uncertainty principle, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 9 (1983), 129-206.
- [Fr] K. Friedrichs. Spektraltheorie halbbeschränkter Operatoren und Anwendung auf die Spektralzerlegung von Differentialoperatoren, Math. Ann., 109 (1934), 465–487, 685–713.
- [GI] I.M. Glazman. Direct Methods of Qualitative Spectral Analysis of Singular Integral Operators, Davey and Co. New York, 1966.

- [Gr1] E. Grinshpun, On spectral properties of Schrödinger-type operator with complex potential, Oper. Theory: Adv. Appl. 87 (1996), 164–176.
- [Gr2] E. Grinshpun. Asymptotics of spectrum under infinitesimally form-bounded perturbation, Integral Eqs. Oper. Theory 19 (1994), 240–250.
- [HMV] K. Hansson, V. Maz'ya, I. Verbitsky. Criteria of solvability for multi-dimensional Riccati's equation. Arkiv för Matem. 37 (1999), no. 1, 87-120.
- [Hed] L.I. Hedberg. On certain convolution inequalities, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 36 (1972), 269-280.
- [Hil] E. Hille. Non-oscillation theorems. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 64:2 (1948), 234-252.
- [Ka1] T. Kato. Fundamental properties of Hamiltonian operators of Schrödinger type. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 70 (1951), 195-211.
- [Ka2] T. Kato, Schrödinger operators with singular potentials, Israel J. Math. 13 (1972), 135–148.
- [Ka3] T. Kato. Remarks on Schrödinger operators with vector potentials, Integral Equations and Operator Theory 1 (1978), 103-113.
- [Ka2] T. Kato. Perturbation Theory for Linear Operators, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1995.
- [KeS] R. Kerman, E.T. Sawyer. The trace inequality and eigenvalue estimates for Schrödinger operators, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble), 36 (1986), 207-228.
- [KMS] V. Kondratiev, V. Maz'ya, M. Shubin. Discreteness of spectrum and strict positivity criteria for magnetic Schrödinger operators, Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 29 (2004), no. 3-4, 489-521.
- [Lan] N.S. Landkof. Foundations of Modern Potential Theory, Springer, 1972.
- [LPS] V. A. Liskevich, M. A. Perelmuter, Yu. A. Semenov, Form-bounded perturbations of generators of sub-Markovian semigroups, Acta Appl. Math. 44 (1996), 353–377.
- [LPh] G. Lumer, R.S. Phillips. Dissipative operators in a Banach space, Pacific J. Math. 11 (1961), 679-698.
- [MM1] A. S. Marcus, V. I. Matsaev. Operators associated with sesquilinear forms and spectral asymptotics, Mat. Issled. 61 (1981), 86–103.
- [Maz1] V. Maz'ya. The negative spectrum of the higher-dimensional Schrödinger operator. (Russian) Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR. 144 (1962), 721–722.
- [Maz2] V. Maz'ya. The Dirichlet problem for elliptic equations of arbitrary order in unbounded domains. (Russian) Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 150 (1963), 1221–1224.
- [Maz3] V. Maz'ya. On the theory of the multidimensional Schrödinger operator. (Russian) Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat., 28 (1964), 1145–1172.
- [Maz4] V. Maz'ya. Certain integral inequalities for functions of several variables. (Russian) Problems of mathematical analysis, no. 3: Integral and differential operators, Differential equations (Russian), 1972, pp. 33–68. Izdat. Leningrad. Univ., Leningrad. English translation: J. Soviet Math. 1 (1973), 205 234.
- [Maz5] V. Maz'ya. On (p,l)-capacity, embedding theorems and the spectrum of a selfadjoint elliptic operator., Math.USSR-Izv., 7 (1973), 357–387.
- [Maz6] V. Maz'ya. The connection between two forms of capacity. (Russian) Vestnik Leningrad. Univ. Mat. Mech. Astronom. 7:2 (1974), 33–40.

- [Maz7] V. Maz'ya. Sobolev Spaces, Springer, 1985.
- [Maz8] V. Maz'ya, Lectures on Isoperimetric and Isocapacitary Inequalities in the Theory of Sobolev Spaces, Contemporary Mathematics, 338, Heat Kernels and Analysis on Manifolds, Graphs, and Metric Spaces, 2003, American Math. Society, pp 307-340.
- [Maz9] V. Maz'ya. Conductor inequalities and criteria for Sobolev type two-weight embeddings. To appear in the Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics.
- [MH] V. Maz'ya, V. Havin. Application of the (p, l)-capacity to certain problems of the theory of exceptional sets. (Russian) Mat. Sb. 90 (132) (1973), 558–591; English translation: Math. USSR 19 (1973), 547-580.
- [MaO] V. Maz'ya, M. Otelbaev. Embedding theorems and the spectrum of a certain pseudodifferential operator. (Russian) Sibirsk. Mat. Z., 18 (1977), no. 5, 1073–1087.
- [MSha1] V. Maz'ya, T. Shaposhnikova. Theory of Multipliers in Spaces of Differentiable Functions, Pitman, 1985.
- [MSha2] V. Maz'ya, T. Shaposhnikova. Characterization of multipliers in pairs of Besov spaces, Operator Theoretical Methods and Applications to Mathematical Physics: The Erhard Meister Memorial Volume, Birkhuser, 2004, pp 365-387.
- [MShu1] V. Maz'ya, M. Shubin. Discreteness of spectrum and positivity criteria for Schrödinger operators.. Preprint math.SP/0305278, to appear in the Annals of Mathematics.
- [MShu2] V. Maz'ya, M. Shubin. Can one see the fundamental frequency of a drum?. Preprint math.SP/0506181, to appear in Letters in Mathematical Physics.
- [MS] V. Maz'ya, P. Sobolevskii. On generating operators of semigroups (Russian). Uspekhi Mat. Mauk 17:6 (1962), 151-154.
- [MV1] V. Maz'ya, I. Verbitsky. Capacitary estimates for fractional integrals, with applications to partial differential equations and Sobolev multipliers, Arkiv för Matem. 33 (1995), 81-115.
- [MV2] V. Maz'ya, I. Verbitsky. The Schrödinger operator on the energy space: boundedness and compactness criteria, Acta Mathematica, 188 (2002), 263–302.
- [MV3] V. Maz'ya, I. Verbitsky. Infinitesimal form boundedness and Trudinger's subordination for the Schrödinger operator (to appear in the Inventiones Mathematicae).
- [Mol] A.M. Molchanov. On conditions for the discreteness of spectrum of self-adjoint differential equations of the second order, Trudy Mosk. Matem. Obshchestva (Proc. Moscow Math. Society), 2 (1953), 169–199 (Russian).
- [NS] K. Naimark, M. Solomyak. Regular and pathological eigenvalue behavior for the equation  $-\lambda u'' = Vu$  on the semiaxis, J. Funct. Anal. **151** (1997), 504-530.
- [Pe] J. Peetre. On the theory of  $\mathcal{L}_{p,\lambda}$  spaces, J. Funct. Anal. 4 (1969), 71–87.
- [RS1] M. Reed, B. Simon. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics. I: Functional Analysis, Academic Press, New York–London, rev. ed. 1980.
- [RS2] M. Reed, B. Simon. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics, II: Fourier Analysis, Self-adjointness, Academic Press, New York, 1975.
- [RS3] M. Reed, B. Simon. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics, III: Scattering Theory, Academic Press, New York, 1979.

- [RS4] M. Reed, B. Simon. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics, IV: Analysis of Operators, Academic Press, New York, 1978.
- [Re1] F. Rellich. Störungstheorie der Spektralzerlegung I-V. Math. Ann. 113 (1937), 600-619; 113 (1937), 677-685; 116 (1939), 555-570; 117 (1940), 356-382; 118 (1942), 462-484.
- [Re2] F. Rellich. Halbbeschränkte Differentialoperatoren höherer Ordnung, Proc. Intern. Congr. Math. Amsterdam 1954, vol. 3, 243-250.
- [RSS] G. V. Rozenblum, M.A. Shubin, and M.Z. Solomyak. Spectral Theory of Differential Operators, Encyclopaedia of Math. Sci., 64. Partial Differential Equations VII. Ed. M.A. Shubin. Springer-Verlag, Berlin–Heidelberg, 1994.
- [Sch1] M. Schechter, Operator Methods in Quantum Mechanics, Dover Publications, Mineola, New York, 2002.
- [Sch2] M. Schechter. Spectra of Partial Differential Operators, North Holland, 1986.
- [Schw] J. Schwinger. On the bound states of a given potential, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 47:1 (1961), 122–129.
- [Sim1] B. Simon. Lower semicontinuity of positive quadratic forms. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh, Sect. A, 29 (1977), 267-273.
- [Sim2] B. Simon. Maximal and minimal Schrödinger forms. J. Operator Theory 1:1 (1979), 37-47.
- [Sim3] B. Simon. Schrödinger semirgoups. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 7:3 (1982), 447-526.
- [Sim4] B. Simon. Schrödinger operators in the twentieth century. J. Math. Physics **41**:6 (2000), 3523-3555.
- [Sim5] B. Simon. Schrödinger operators in the twenty-first century. Mathematical Physics 2000, Imperial College Press, London, 2000, 283-288.
- [Saw] E.T. Sawyer. Weighted norm inequalities for fractional maximal operators, 1980 Seminar on Harmonic Analysis (Montreal, Que., 1980), pp. 283–309, CMS Conf. Proc., 1, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1981.
- [Stu] K. T. Sturm. Schrödinger operators with highly singular, oscillating potentials, Manuscr. Math. 76 (1992), 367-395.
- [Stum] F. Stummel. Singuläre elliptische Differentialoperatoren in Hilbertschen Räumen, Math. Ann. 132 (1956), 150-178.
- [SW] E. M. Stein, G. Weiss. Fourier Analysis on Euclidean Spaces, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1971.
- [Tru] N.S. Trudinger. Linear elliptic operators with measurable coefficients, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa 27 (1973), 265-308.
- [Tay] M. Taylor. Scattering length of positive potentials, (Preprint), 2004.
- [Ver] I. Verbitsky, Nonlinear potentials and trace inequalities, The Maz'ya Anniversary Collection. Eds. J. Rossmann, P. Takác, and G. Wildenhain. Operator Theory: Advances and Applications 110 (1999), 323–343.